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St Mary Magdalene, Mitford

The parish church of Mitford, although locally prominenthe landscape through its lofty spire,
lies low on the south bank of the Wansbeck, and
is overlooled on the south east by the
prominent knoll that carries the ruins of Mitfor
Castle. Thechurch consists of a nave with
four-bay south aisle, small transeptsr
transeptal chapeglsa south porch and a wesis:
tower; the aisleless chancel has a small Rorg
west organ chamber. The parts of the chu
dating fom the 1874 restoratior(tower, saith
aisle, porch and nave clerestory) are of clos
jointed brown/olive sandste of neaashlar
quality, with ashlar dressings; the medievig®
parts areof coursed squared or rougkdguared
stone, and the roofs of red tiles.

Description Southeast view
The Exterior

The West Tower rises in one tall stage (interrupted only by a simple moulded string below the
sill of the west window) as far as a bold chamfereebsek at the base of the belfry; at the
southwest angle is an octagonal stair turret rising to a pyramidal cap at leslély and at the
northwest angle are a pair of stepped buttresses that only rise to a little above th@&ls¢tiadgs

a chamfered plinth; the stair turret has a bold broach stop at the foot of itseastiingle and is

lit by a series of small chaexfed loops. The west window, set quite high, is of two lights, with
simple Y-tracery and a chamfered hood with shaped stops. On the south-beightl is a
squareheaded twdight window set easbf-centre, with a hollowchamfered surround, and just
belowthe top of the stage are pairs of lancets, set centrally, on south, west and north. On the east
the steegpitched nave roof rises to the base of the belfry. The belfry has @talingin each

face with a fourcentred arch enclosintyvo lancet lights wth a circle in the spandrel, and a
transom near the baseath blind panels beneath it; the chamfered hood has shaped stops, like
those of the west window. Above and to either side are oculi or sound holes, in chamfered
surrounds. The parapet has a mouldethg at its base (pierced by a spout above each belfry
opening) and a moulded parapet, and behind it rises the lofty octagonal ashlar spire, which has
lucernes on the principal faces, the lower ones having halamfered cross windowsith

blind four-centred arches aboaad the much smaller upper ones sqtaded loops. The spire

is topped by a weathervane.



The lower part of the south wall of tidaveis concealed by the south aisle; directly above the
aisle roof is a bold string course wittcised chevron ornament. This looks wholly"i&ntury

in its present forrh but below it, at the south east corner, is an old attached shaft that rises from
a block ¢ 0.5 m below the eaves of the low transept; below this is a ragged break between the
fabric of the nave and the rebuilt walling of the transept. In the lowest two courses is an irregular
projection, perhaps the springing of the apse of tiecktury south aisleAbove the chevron
moulded string the walling of the clerestory is alll8f74-5; the eastern bay has a pair of lancets

and the other bays single lancets, all with chamfered hoods, and there are corbels, hollow
chamfered below, to the eaves.

The north wall of the nave is quite complex; the lower part of its eastern bay is corimetied

north transept, and the western half bay is ‘& d@htury addition, although in coursed roughly
pecked stone in contrast to the naahlar of the south sidand at the west end is a big ashlar
buttress matching the pair at the nentbst corner bthe tower A string course, chamfered
above, marks the base of the74& clerestory, which is in the bettquality stone, and is
identical to that on the south. Towards the centre of the wall is the blocked north door, a square
headed opening with ankel (now cracked) cambered on its extrados, and a rough segmental
relieving arch above. There are three quite broad lancet windows; the outer ones look ancient
(although the eastern has htdsill renewed) but the external dressings of the central renalla
restoration. Midway betweehe certral andeastern lanceis a straight joint rising to a height of

cl1.5 m above this levetoughly-coursed and roughigquared stone courses throumit below,

to the west of the joint isvell-coursed fabridhat includesmany large square blocks (of'12
century character, although perhapsised)whilst to the east is of much less regular stahest

short of the transept there iss&condstraight jointthat risesa little higher(up to transept eaves

but maybe more recent as a small square opening at its base look8 céritiry date, and may
relate to the adjacent boiler room beneath the north tranSbpt.wall has no real plinth,
although there is a projecting footing in between the two straight j@nting ¢ 0.30 m from

each.

The coping of the east gable of the nave has a foliate finial cross and a large stepped stack rising
from its northern slope, rising to with a tapering cap with a series of small vents in each face; all
this is clearly of 18%-5.

The South Aisleis againof 1874-5, and its fabric is like that of the tower, with which it shares a
continuous chamfered plinth; there is a moulded string below the windows and a pair of stepped
buttresses at the soutvest corner, and shaped corbelshe eaves like those of the clerestory.
There is a single lancet in the west wall, with a chamfered hood of the usual type, and a single
and double lancet in the south wall to the east of the porch.

1 Sections of it are shown aan 1832 penciaindwashsketchby Swinburne,and mentioned in his accompanying
letter. Woodhornarchive ref SANT/BEQ/19/3/1



The South Porch is again of the same build, with the same plinth, but here there are two
moulded strings, one just above the plinth and the other forming the imposts of the outer arch
which is of twoecentred form, and of two chamfered orders, under a moulded hood. areere
stepped buttresses at the southern angles, and a coping to the gable chamfered on its underside; a
horizontal string cross the gable, with a recent sundial occupying the triangular panel above; the
gable is topped by a foliate cross finial.

The South Transept is largely built of roughlycoursed and roughlgquared stone. The
uppermost four courses of the short west wall are of pecked stone, and probabhegestl;

at the foot of the wall is a projecting footing. At each end of the south wall atdogkdike the

bases of shallow buttresses, which only survive to the height of two courses; the lowest course is
of regular cut blocks but ¢honeabove has been roughly hacked back. Above, ¢ 0.ff0mmthe

ground, is a slight oféet, above which thevall may have been rebuilt; it contains a square
headed window of two ogeeeaded trefoiled lights, with a moulded hood and a raised shield in
the spandrebearing three amalsidentified as the moles of Mitford of Molesdemn either side

of the window fead is a worn corbel, that to the west now fairly shapeless, that to the east a pair
of human heads. The gable coping is chamfered on its lower edge, and there is an eroded shaped
finial. The east wall of the transept is quite complex; the lowermosteoofdarge squared
blocks, has a marked dip in the centre, possibly resulting from subsidence if the wall was, as is
supposed, built across the opening into a former apse. At ground level there are some large
projecting footings ¢ 2 m from the south eridhe wall. Towards the south end of the wall and ¢
0.80 m above the ground an elaborate chemonlded voussoir has beenused, with just

above that the head or sill of a tWght mullioned window. 1.5 m from the south end of the wall

is a small rectagular opening with a metal grille. The ragged joint at the north end of the wall
has already been described.

The North Transept is of similar dimensions to its southern counterpart, and is largely
constructed of roughigoursed and roughiyquared stondf has old quoins at its nortest

angle but 19-century ones at the nortrast; there is a ¥Y9century boiler room beneath it,
reached by an external flight of steps on the north. The west wall is devoid of any features. In the
centre of the north gébis a twelight window with trefoiled ogee lights, very like that in the

south transept, except that it has no raised shield nor any hoodmould; the gable has a coping
chamfered on its underside, and a simple roll moulding as a finial. On the east'icentigy
doorway very like that in the organ chamber, except that the hoodmould has good carved foliate
stops the southern part of the east walt@ncealed by the ¥&century Organ Chamber

The south elevation of th€hancelis constructed of coursed squared blocks, and presents an
impressive elevation of six rather irregular bays, articulated by stepped buttresses. There is a
threepart plinth (a chamfer at ground level, a bold chamfer at mid height and a moulded string at
the top) and a moulded string at the level of the sills of théasizet windows, as well as an
oversailng chamfered course to the ea®Bsow the string, set leftf-centre in the westernmost

bay, is a lowside window, another lancet, and in the fourthyo a pri est 6s door .



orders; the inner has a narrow teentred arch with highelief chevron, now very worn, and the
outer a neasemicircular arch (formed from three stones) with chevron in its angle and leaf
motifs; there is also a hoodmduflush with the wall on one side and projecting on the dther
one of several features that make this door look likesetr@iece.The outer order is carried on
(renewed) shafts with old scalloped capitals; one block in the east jamb has sharpemreg g
that clearly predate the reinstatement of the shakbove the string the lancets windows have
chamfered hoods, all now somewhat eroded.
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“The chancel from the south

The paired buttresses at the eastern angles of the transepts have steeply gabled tops with trefoiled
ridges, in contrast to the sloping tops of the buttresses of the south wall. The plinth and string are
continued from the south wall; above the string ariplet of lancets, of equal height, with

linked chamfered hoodmoulds, and a vesica window aboe®sed bya moulded label; all the
dressings of these openings look off“X@ntury character. The steep gable hasoping
chamfered on its underside, amdbliate cross finial.

The north wall of the chancel divides into three bays, the wesmancovered by the pent
roofedOrganChamber. The sill string and plinth are only continued along the shsiern bay,
which has a lancet windowhat seemsto be an authentic medievafeature Then comes a
massive stepped buttress, with some odd irregulaiititge sloping cap is narrower than the
main structure below which probably incorporates the stub of the east wall of the former
sacristy. The broad centbaywas formery covered by the sacristy; there is a band, just below



the eaves cornice, which must have served as a roof tabling for the vanished structure, and below
that a series of five eroded corbels that presumably carried its roof timbers. Theeloall

shows much reddening, especially in its lower parts (and around the roof corbels) which almost
certainly indcates the saisty was destroyed by firé also contains many almost square blocks,
perhaps 1%-cenury material reused. In the centre dhis section is a blocked squareaded
doorway (which seems coeval with the walling) that has a chamfered lintel but plain-square
section jambs; about 1 m above the eastern end of its lintel is a small stone with what looks like a
raised shield upon itTo the west of the doorway is a lancet windwith a surround that looks

of (early?) 19"-century date; its jambs each have two tall upright stones and three shoitsones
internal frame seems anciérithe Organ Chamber has 19-century ashlar quoins but-tses

older masonry in its walling. It has a single lancet on the north, and-aemied chamfered
doorway on the east, with a hoodmould grooved and chamfered on its lower angle.

The Interior

The internal walls of the churclre almost allof exposed stonewoykhe fabric of 1874-5 is
mostly finely-tooled ashlar, and the medieval parts rougidyrsed and roughlyquared stone,
in some areas somewhat obscured by heavy pointing

The Tower opens to the nave by lafty pointed arch of three chamfered orders, with a
chamfered hood, moulded imposts and dowblemfered jambs rising from moulded bases with
large leaves copied from the bases of the south arcade. Above the arch is a lancet window,
opening westwards into theérdt floor room of the tower; its rear arch is in the form of a
chamfered rib, a fornollowed by all the windows of this type the church. Inside the tower is

a smallmodernwestern gallerybelow which the squateeaded doorway to the newel stair is se
diagonally in the soutlwest corner; above the gallery the west window has a segrperiadd

rear arch with a chamfer to its head only. The newel stair, well lit by bresatyed loops, rises

to the belfry, passing squaneaded doorways into thedirand second floors. The former is lit

by a twelight window on the south, with a heavy rectangular block forming its internal lintel;

the lancet above the tower arch opens into this chamber, and has a groove for leaded glazing,
although it is now closelly a casement fixed to its (external) splay; this window is a puzzling
piece, as it looks as if it is intended to be an external opening, but never can have been. It looks
no older than the earlier (?f18entury; might it have been-tesed in 184-5?. The secondloor

room is lit by paired lancets on the north, west and south, all with plain internal lintels. A third
similar doorway opens into the belfry, where the bells are now mounted on cast iron frames. The
oculi or sound holes each have thoparte-round rear arches, forming a pair in each corner of

the tower, beneath the triple squinches that carry the alternate sides of the spire, the lower part of

Wi |l sonds 1870 plan does not show any window
was this moved here when the Organ Chamber was added?



which (lit by its four cross windows) is open to the belfry; rickety wooden ladders ascend to its
heights.

Inside theNave three bays of the south

| arcade(left) are of 19" century date, and
the fourth, westernmost, a copy of %87

5. They are semicircular in form, and
spring from massive circular piers with
scalloped capitals, with moulded bases
each with a large leaget diagonallyat
each corner set on stepped and grooved
square plinths. The arches are of two
orders; the innehas a soffit roll between
two chamfers, the outer is moulded
towards the nave but simply chamfered
towards the aisle. The eastern respond is
semioctagonal, with a billet moulding to
the abacus ring; the western respond is
copy. Piers and arches show
consderably patching, and the reguly-
coursed stonework in the spandrels of the
archesseems all of 187%°. On the
north side of the nave the arch into the
north transept is of similar form, but
looks all restoration, as does its eastern
respond, whiclpuzlingly takes the form

of a threequarter pier, with a scalloped
capital. The western respond however is
ancient,and has clearly been a full pier,
with a capital that has both scallops and carved foliage on the vertical faces. Nothing remains of
any archspringing westwards, which must have been replaced by the present nave wall with its
three lancet windows (the rear arches of all three, of the usual type, appear ancient) and the
blocked north door, which has a segmental rear ar8lt m west of the respond is thgaight
joint in the lower part of the wafblso seen externally); this is in approximately the right place to
represent the western respond of a second arch to the former north arcade.

On both walls of the nave a stg course, chamfered on its lower angle, marks the top of the
medieval fabric and base of the 1879 clerestory. On the south it runs level, but on the north
where it is st at a slightly higher leveit steps down at both ends to the level of its southern

3 It would appear from the account of the restoration which appears inNee/castle Daily Journdr 20" May
1875 that the arches and walling above were taken down and rebuilt.




cownterpart The lancets of the clerestory have broad internal splays; above them is a chamfered
oversailing course. The fotmay roof is of the crowspost type, with ashlaring to the eaves, struts
between the principals and collars, and faary bracesrbm the posts.

In the South Aislethe lower part of the walls which were presumably originally covered by a
dado- are of coursed roughlgecked stone. The south door has a segmental rear arch with a
chamfer to its head, and the windows rear archeseafishal type. At the east end of the aisle is

a segmental arch into the transept, of two chamfered orders with a chamfered hood.

Inside theSouth Porchthe south door has a twoentred arch; the inner orders has a continuous
broad chamfer and the outert && jamb shafts with carved and moulded bases (raised to the
level of the tops of the side benches) is moulded, as is the hood which has foliate stops. The
stone side benches have moulded edges, and the roof is-tbiracell collared rafters.

The South Transept, now screened off from both nave and aisle, now serves as a chapel. The
short west wall is faced in ashlar, containing a-Remanesque monument to Bertram
Osbal deston Mitford, d 1842, ,ratheosurprisingly assher i b e d
said fortress had already been a ruin for four centuries. The window in the south wall has a broad
internal splay and a renewed shouldered rear arch; to the east of it is a small piscina with a
segmentapointed chamfered arand the front edge of its bowl cut away. The east wall is plain,

except that at its north end, adjacent to the eastern respond of the arcade, is the moulded base and
three stones of a T'entury shaft, either the north end of a wall arcade or possiélndtth

side of an arch opening into the eastern apse of the early south aisle.

TheNorth Transept now servess a vestry; the 18cenury doorway at the north end of its east
wall has a segmental rear arch with a chamfer only to its head. ThHehwvaevindow in the

north wall has broadtgplayed jambs and a shouldered rear arch, the lintel of which has neat
parallel tooling on its edge, marking it out as & X@ntury replacement. The west wall is
concealed by a range of fitted cupboards

TheChancel is entered under a broad segmepitaihted arch of two orders, the inner with rolls

on its lower angles and the other with a broad chamfer. It springs from short wall shafts, resting
in short lengths of moulded string course ¢ 2.5 m above the floor. Titleeso wall shafi in

section a big half roll between two fillétss the onlyold part and has its central block cut back,
perhaps to house the end of a rood heiamarries a scalloped capital with its impost grooved
and chamfered beneathe northen respond is a copy

On the south side of the chancel, the internal opening olotheside window, with broadly
splayed jambs and a plain |Iintel, iI's partly c
door has a plain pointed arch withinquare frame. In the sanctuary are three sedilia (all on the

same level) with rather distorted moulded pointed arches and a casemddéd hood

springing fromshafts with moulded caps and bases; all their stonework looks old, and retains
some traces ofed ochre colouring. To the east is a piaawmth a cusped bowl set in a large



square recess containing a (renewed) shelf and framed by a bold roll moultiedhead and
the ends of the sill look of much fresher stone but the jambs look old, raisipggsibility that

the recess has been widened at some #heve all these features is a moulded string course,
below the range of six lancets, with all have rear arches of the usual rib type.

On the north of the chancel the western third of the aadlithe loft chamfered arch into the
Organ Chamber isoncealed by the elaborate woodwork of the orgawl the lower part of the
eastern section by a boarded datiereis a midheight string, as on the south, interrupted by an
unusualmonument a rustic efigy on a tomb chestto Bertram Revely d.1622 which is set in
front of the blocked north doofhe two lancet windows each have rear arches of the usual form

The east wall has a central recess, backethéygarved stonework of the $aentury reredos,
below the triplet of lancets. These have rietigulded rear arches, and intermediate shafts with
shaft rings, all of whiclf{together with the moulded surround of the vesica abare}learly of
19" century date, but the plain outer fthawith their scalloped capitals, and the short lengths of
chevronmoulded frieze which continue from these to the side walls, are apparefitbedfry
work, although possibly ex situ.

The chancel has a boarded wagon roof with a carved plate. Thevalesabove the chancel
arch, is rendered.

The interior of theOrgan Chamberis boarded around, and of no architectural interest, although
the boarding is covered by pencil graffiti, largely from the early years of the€@ury, which
have some clairto be a valuable social/historical document in their own right

Discussion

This is a complex and interesting building, which despite its rather grandiose Victorian
refurbishment retains evidence in its fabric of the vicissitudes of the medieval histbeyarta,
although, as often, correlations between features in the building and specific historical events
need to be treated with caution!

The history of the church is obviously wound together with that of the adjacent edsth is

first recorded inL138; excavations immediately prior to World War Il uncovered the remains of

a 12" century chapel which apparently overlay a stirlier graveyard, with several monuments
remaining in sityHoneyman 1955) This would appear to suggest that the eartibstch heré
probably with PreConquest origing stood on the knoll, and was enclosed within the late
11"/early 12" century castle of the Bertram family, a new church then being built for the parish
on the present site. This appears to be a relato@tymon scenario ; at Newcastle remains of an
early church (and graveyard) have been recently found adjacent to'ttveritry castle keep,
which it would appear was superceded by the
outside the castl® the north.
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Thus what was probably the first church on the present site was constructed in th2"mid
century, and would appear to have been a sizeable andthaigis building; Hodges (1928) sees

it as having a fivdbay fully-aisled nave and a cheal of the present length, but his
reconstruction can be queried on several grounds. What survives of this Romanesque building is
threeanda-half bays of the south arcadadone of the north, and some features in the chancel
the pri est Ohafts dnotltedecosativd strindy s theseast enavhich realy have the

look of being reused. The north arcade is a real puzzle; the surviving arch has what seems like a
pier as its eastern respond, although a pier in this position (with anothespairoing to the

east) is impossible to accommodate with the present chancel arch, the southern respond of which
looks to be miedl2" century work as well. This respond seems entirel-déntury restoration

in its present form; as it is shown in thisfor on Wi | sonés plan of 1870
the product of the 1874 works, but could be earlier Victoriamvould be unusual for an arcade

of this period to continue unbroken alongside the chancel; however, the chancel arch, despite
having scallped capitals to its imposts, seems unusually tall and wide for one of this period, so
this could be latef but the eastern respond of the south arcade, which is cleagityimid-12"

century work, showshatthe position of the nave/chancel divisiorshet changed. A mystery
remains.

Hodges shows the north arcade as continuing the full length of the nave, but here structural
evidence is against him; the lower part of the north wall of the nave looks as if it might be
undisturbed midl2" century masory, and has a straight joint in a position which would
correlate with the western respond of an arcade that had only twoTdeybslewcastle Daily
Journalaccount of the restoratiaefers to the base of a pillar being found on the north of the
nave sponding to ¢hose on the sodtnd infers there was an aisle here. This is puzzling,
unless what was found was the base of the respond postulated Bhewame article records

that other foundations uncovered showed that the original nave was 732i@&n{2long (and

of five bays) and that the south aisle was 9 feet (2.74m), a little wider than its sudcessor
unusually broad for an aisle of this period.

Another possibility that needs to be mentioned is that the south arcade at least was an msertion i
an even older wall. This is raised Bywi n b ul83a petcd and wash sket(tee footnote 1);

this shows the church from the sowtlst, with various features in the south wall of the nave
above the remains of the thblocked arcade. One at least Ieolo be the top of an earlier
window, above the remains of the westernmost arch; an accompanying letter from the artist to
the engravef who produced t he c wistorpaf Ndrthumiedadd askee Ho d g
that these features be carefutgproduced, so it is probably more than artistic licerices
however possiblé and perhaps more likelythat the feature represents the remains of a later
medieval opening, made after the loss of the aisle and the blocking of the arcade. Whatever
evidence there was here was lost in 1:8/4vhen it would appear that the arches were taken
down and rebuilt, so that all the reguladgursed fabric above is now of that date.
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Print from Hodgson, after drawing by Swinburne

It is recorded that Miord village was burned by King John in 1216, and the castle besieged by
Alexander, Kng of Scotland, in the fédwing year. It is thought that thehurch was partly
destroyed during one of these vicissitudes, and that the nave lost its aisles; theeapperof

the north wall of the nave, with its lancet windows, could well relate to repairs after this
destruction. Whether the south aisle was lost at this time is questionable. The chancel was
rebuilt, more or less in its present form, later in th& d@ntury; it would seem a little odd for a
church to be provided with such a grandiose chamhést the nave was left truncated and shorn

of its aisleslt is possible that the broad south aisle, the foundations of which were seen-n 1874
5, was a later #3century rebuilding of the 2century original.

This brings us to a second surmised destruction of the chlinehCastle had been seized from

the Valence family by Sir Gilbert de Middleton, who used it to hold people he had kidnapped,

until he himself was seized for treason by Ralph de Greystock. The Castle may have been
wrecked then, or shortly afterwards in May 1318 by the Scots; certainly itsigiloed as
oentirely destroyed and burnto i n an inquest
part; there are clear signs of burning on the north wall of the chancel, where a large sacristy once
stood. The nave was certainly left aisletelsy this time, as the present transepts, little more than
chapels, are of later 4 ent ury dat e. The northern was | at e
the southern as the O6Mitford Porch©o.



